IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THEODORE BASSETT,)
Appellant,)
vs.) CASE No. 71,130
THE STATE OF FLORIDA,)
Appellee.)
)

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

(On Appeal from the 7th Judicial Circuit In and For Volusia County, Florida)

STEVEN H. MALONE Special Appointed Representative Office of the Capital Collateral Representative 301 North Olive Avenue/9th Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (305) 820-2150

Statement of the Case

The indictment of February 1, 1979, named both John Carter Cox and Theodore Augustus Bassett, Jr., as defendants on two counts each of first degree murder, robbery and kidnapping. R 5-6. A plea agreement was reached before trial, and filed in open Court on October 15, 1979. R 14-15. The terms of the agreement bound the State to dismiss the robbery and kidnapping charges against both defendants and provided for concurrent life terms for both Mr. Cox and Mr. Bassett on the two counts of first degree murder. In exchange, both defendants would plead nolo contendere to the first degree counts reserving the right to appeal a denial of the <u>corpus delicti</u> challenge to the admission of certain statements given by the defendant. R 14-15. The state and defense stipulated the admissibility of the confession was "dispositive of the entire case...."

R 15. A notation on the front page of the stipulation states that "Bassett withdrew from stipulation prior to hearing and elected to go to trial" on October 18, 1979. R 14. John Cox pled no contest, and was sentenced to concurrent life terms on the first degree murder charges. T 712-15.

There is no record of any further pre-trial motions or proceedings on behalf of Mr. Bassett. Trial began January 14, 1980. The state <u>nolle prossed</u> the two robbery and kidnapping charges, T 2, electing to proceed only on the two counts of first degree murder. On January 17, 1980, Mr. Bassett was convicted on both first degree murder counts. R 18,19. Penalty phase was conducted the

In this brief, the Record on Appeal before this Court on the direct appeal will be denoted "R". References to the trial and sentencing transcript will be preceded by the letter "T". The postconviction record, presently on appeal, will be referred to as "PCR", and references to the Transcript of the evidentiary hearing held in this post-conviction proceeding will be preceded by "PCT."

following day, and a majority of the jury recommended death. R 20. The court imposed death the same day, filing "findings of fact in conjunction with the aggravating and mitigating factors set forth in F.S. 921.141." R 24.

The conviction and death sentences were affirmed on appeal. Bassett v. State, 449 So.2d 803 (1984). Appellate counsel did not seek certiorari. On January 10, 1985, a death warrant was signed and Mr. Bassett's execution was set for February 5, 1985. The Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence was filed January 20, 1985, and a stay was entered that day. PCR 1236. The case proceeded through pre-hearing motions. The court struck certain claims, and ruled against the defendant on other grounds PCR 1250-1251. Mr. Bassett filed a supplemental ground alleging state misconduct and a Confrontation Clause violation, which was denied on both procedural and substantive grounds. PCR 673-675.

An evidentiary hearing limited to the ineffective assistance of counsel claim was ordered. PCR 673-7,1250-51. On August 5, 6, and 7, 1987, the hearing was held. On August 11, 1987, the trial court denied relief, PCR 1213-15, though finding trial counsel failed to reasonably discharge his obligation to investigate and prepare a penalty phase defense. The court subsequently ordered the previously entered stay of execution continued pending appeal, finding the ineffectiveness claim at penalty phase "presented a difficult decision for this Court," and that it "could be decided differently" by another Court. PCR 1222. Notice of Appeal was timely filed. PCR 1216.

Subsequent to the filing of the notice of appeal, Appellant moved this Court to relinquish jurisdiction to permit the trial court to consider the <u>Hitchcock</u> claim in light of this Court's recognition such a claim is now cognizable post-conviction. The motion was denied.

Statement of the Facts

A. At trial

During trial, defense counsel moved to suppress custodial statements made by Mr. Bassett to two law enforcement agents over a two-day period. T 435. No written motion was filed, but counsel orally moved for a determination whether the statements were "knowingly and voluntarily" given, and "what representations ... were made." T 436,438. Only the two law enforcement officers who elicited Mr. Bassett's statements testified on the motion; the sole defense witness was Mr. Bassett, who was identified as "Earl Lee Smith" before the court. T 440-495. This Court described the circumstances surrounding the confession based on the record before it when this case was on direct appeal:

On December 12 and 13, 1978, appellant's codefendant, John Cox, directed the Volusia County Sheriff's Department to the skeletal remains of two bodies. Cox confessed to the murders and implicated appellant.

At the time the bodies were discovered, the sheriff's department was holding appellant, apparently on an unrelated felony charge. The state advised the trial court that appellant had relevant information concerning the disappearance of the victims and that appellant was willing to talk to authorities if the court would provide counsel. Because the public defender represented codefendant Cox, the court appointed private counsel to represent appellant during any questioning and negotiations arising from the state's investigation into the victims' deaths. After the investigation was complete, the appointed attorney moved to be discharged, advising the court that he had fulfilled his appointed duties, and stated that the appellant was incarcerated for "a felony charge for which counsel has not been appointed and he will require [further] services of appointed counsel." The appointed attorney further advised the court that he would be out of state and suggested the public defender be appointed. The trial court granted the motion to discharge but did not immediately appoint new counsel.

The investigating officers approached appellant after counsel had withdrawn. They testified that they advised appellant of his Miranda rights and that he then asked to speak with his attorney. The officers informed him that his attorney had withdrawn but that they could contact another one for him. When the officers stood up to leave, appellant responded "Well, what do you want anyway?" The officers told appellant that Cox had implicated him that they had recovered the

bodies. This led to appellant's two-day confession. The officers continually gave appellant Miranda warnings and obtained a signed waiver of rights form each day.

Bassett v. State, 449 So.2d at 804-5. The trial court denied the motion to suppress, finding it untimely, and further finding the statements were made knowingly and intelligently. T 500. On appeal, this Court affirmed, holding the interrogation did not violate the right to counsel and that Mr. Bassett had knowingly and intelligently waived his rights. Bassett, 449 So.2d at 806-7. Additional circumstances surrounding the confession were one subject of the evidentiary hearing on the 3.850 motion, and will be addressed in more detail in the post-conviction facts section below.

Mr. Bassett's oral confession was recounted at trial by two law enforcement agents, T 528-74, and summarized by this Court on appeal:

Appellant's confession revealed the following. Appellant met the victims, James Boucher and Daryl Barber, both age eighteen, while walking on Daytona Beach. They had a bag of marijuana with them and were smoking a marijuana cigarette at the time. Appellant told the two boys that he knew of the party they were looking for and offered to them there. three drove in the boys' car first to the boys' motel room so one could change clothes, and then to a nearby fastfood restaurant to pick up codefendant Cox. Appellant and Cox schemed to steal the boys' marijuana and any money that they might have. After smoking a few marijuana cigarettes and stopping for gas, either appellant or Cox displayed a gun and directed the boys to drive down an isolated dirt road. After they took the remaining marijuana and the money, Cox determined that the boys would have to be killed to cover up the Appellant and Cox then marched their victims robbery. approximately a mile through an adjacent swamp. At some point, the victims were instructed to discard their shoes, and their hands were tied behind their backs with their belts. Later, Cox told the boys to lie down and both captors beat the victims with a rotten tree limb. Frustrated because the limb kept breaking, Cox knocked one boy in the face with the pistol butt, apparently fracturing his jaw. After the captors decided that the murders could not be accomplished there, Cox returned for the car. The victims were forced into the vehicle's trunk so that no one would see them or hear screams for help. Appellant and Cox then returned to the victims' motel room and removed all belongings to make it appear as if the occupants had checked out. With the boys still in the trunk for what must have been hours, the captors went to Cox's trailer to decide how they would commit the murder. Subsequently, they drove the vehicle down another isolated dirt

road. One boy was removed from the trunk and forced to make the second endorsement on his travelers checks. With both victims again secure in the trunk and appellant keeping watch, Cox placed a piece of hose in the vehicle's exhaust pipe and stuffed a sponge around it to ensure against leakage. He forced the opposite end into the trunk. One boy apparently guessed what was happening and attempted to push the hose away. At that, Cox retrieved a knife from the car's interior and poked it into the trunk until the hose was freed. The trunk was then sealed with air conditioning tape and the engine started. Two hours later, the bodies were extricated and dumped into nearby bushes where they remained undiscovered for four months.

Bassett, 449 So.2d at 805-6.

Additional evidence relevant to this appeal was introduced by the state but not mentioned by this Court in its opinion. The prosecutor elicited testimony from Robert Darnell of the Florida Department of Law Enforcement in front of the jury during the guilt phase of the trial which indicated the co-defendant Cox had given a statement in which he said Gus Bassett was the main actor and dominant force in the killings. T 512-14,551-52 ("Cox indicated Smith was [the strong man]"). During closing, the prosecutor clearly told the jury the nontestifying codefendant had said Mr. Bassett committed the crime, T 593-94, and on rebuttal, in discussing the relative culpability of the defendant Bassett with the co-defendant Cox, the prosecutor again made that argument. T 645-46. There was no objection to any of this testimony or argument. The prosecutor also argued the truth of the nontestifying codefendant's statement at the penalty phase of trial, to which there was again no objection. T 742.

After Mr. Bassett was convicted on both counts of first degree murder, the trial proceeded to penalty phase, which began the next day. T 678.

At the penalty phase, the state produced two additional witnesses: Connie Christy, who was Mr. Bassett's girlfriend, and James Wilkinson, a police officer with the City of Daytona Beach. The state elicited, without objection, the following testimony from Ms. Christy: she had seen Mr. Bassett in the possession of a sawed off shotgun (which the State said was illegal) T 692-93, and the

suggestion that he had stolen a motorcycle and luggage. T 694-695. When she was asked if she had heard Mr. Bassett "conspiring to murder," she testified she had not but that Mr. Bassett had made a statement that he was going to blow two men away. The state also asked her about a later incident which she described as "some kind of brawl at the Wreck Bar, and this guy ended up in a trunk." T 695. She was also asked her age (sixteen) T 691, which was used later in aggravation by the state attorney during closing argument. On cross, defense counsel asked whether Ms. Christy had taken a "tape measure" and "measure[d] the shotgun," T 697, and had her repeat the statement about the man being in the trunk. T 698. Officer Wilkinson testified he had seen the defendant when he arrested him for eluding a police officer and driving a motorcycle without a helmet after an 85-100 m.p.h. chase. At that time, Mr. Bassett told him he was 22 years old. T 699-700.

The defense case proceeded as follows. Defense counsel said he would call "Earl Smith," then asked Mr. Bassett his name, which he said was "Earl Lee Smith." T 701. Defense counsel continuously referred to Mr. Bassett as Mr. Smith throughout the examination (and trial). Counsel had his client testify that he had in fact lied about his age to a police officer, that he lied to others about his age, T 701-2, and had used a driver's license someone "gave to him" to obtain liquor. T 702. He also had Mr. Bassett testify to his birthdate, T. 702, and explained the incident about the guy in the trunk at the Wreck Bar. T 703. Finally, he allowed Mr. Bassett to testify to his age at the time of the offense, and led him to say falsely that he "would have been 18" a month or so after the crime occurred. T 704.

The prosecutor's cross examination, on every subject except that relevant to death sentencing, is reproduced below:

MR. WHITE:

Q. Whatever happened to this fellow that was in the trunk?

A. There was a perimity (sic) officer that walked around at the Wreck Bar to see that traffic got in and out safely.

And he heard the guy banging on the trunk and he let the man out.

- Q. You didn't go tell that officer about it, though.
- A. No. I went into the bar and left.
- Q. You had a beer?
- A. Yes.
- Q. What is your real name?
- A. Theodore Agustus Bassett.
- Q. Not Earl Lee Smith?
- A. No.
- Q. You told this office that testified before you that you were 22 back in November of 1978.

That was a lie?

- A. Yes, it was.
- Q. Do you remember talking to a Bob Darnell when you were involved with this murder case?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And do you recall telling him how old you were at that date?
- A. I believe I told him, too, I was 22.
- Q. Do you recall another incident when you came in contact with a Frank Dean Genevese, another police officer from Daytona Beach, in 1978?

Do you recall teling him that you were 22 on that occasion?

- A. I don't remember the occasion.
- Q. It was an incident where there was--someone had allegedly and apparently falsely implicated in a car theft.

Do you recall that incident now?

- A. Yes, I do.
- Q. Do you recall telling that officer that you were 22?

- A. Yes, I do.
- O. That was a lie also?
- A. Yes, it was.
- Q. It was a lie when you told Officer Darnell that you were 22?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Okay. So that's three lies. Have you ever been convicted of a crime?
- A. Yes.
- Q. How many times?
- A. Three.
- MR. WHITE: No further questions.

T 704-706 (emphasis supplied).

Defense counsel redirected by asking Mr. Bassett whether he also told the officers his name was Earl Lee Smith. T 706. He then put two correctional officers on the stand to attest to Mr. Bassett's "or Smith['s]" good behavior (most of the time) for two months while awaiting trial. T 706-711.

Finally, defense counsel called the prosecutor, Gene White, to the stand. He asked Mr. White to attest to the plea agreement and the co-defendant Cox's life sentence. T 712-15. Mr. White cross examined himself as follows:

If it's all right, I'll just give my reasons for the plea.

I felt -- early in the prosecution I felt that it was a death penalty case, but I was going to give them the benefit of the doubt at that point if they wanted to admit their guilt, plead guilty -- plead guilty -- it would be some type of indication of a rehabilitation on their part.

I wanted to spare the family the burden of coming here to this courtroom and going through the ordeal of sitting through a murder trial in which their sons' bones would be exposed; they would have to hear the gruesome testimony, relive their entire life until this point.

And I wanted to try to put it behind the family, wanted to try to save the State expense.

But the Defendant, Spider, said he wanted to challenge the Court; he wanted to challenge the evidence.

So he has that.

He knew that when he withdrew that he would face this Jury, face the parents, and put them through the ordeal the entire time.

Their bodies could not be released. Their bodies would be held pending all this.

He chose that option. No chance.

That showed his inability to rehabilitate himself.

MR. BEVIS: Objection to what he feels it showed on that part of the defendant.

THE COURT: Sustained.

MR. BEVIS: Are you through, Mr. White?

MR. WHITE: Yes.

REDIRECT EXAMINATION

MR. BEVIS:

Q. In point of fact, Earl Smith demanded that the state prove this case beyond a reasonable doubt and stood on his constitutional right to a jury trial of his peers, didn't he?

A. That's correct.

MR. BEVIS: No further questions.

MR. WHITE: And if I may recross myself. He certainly has that right. And I think the Jury can take that into consideration also.

T 716-17 (emphasis supplied).

Prior to closing arguments, the court listed the statutory aggravating factors for the jury, beginning with the standard phrase, then read the statutory mitigating factors, prefacing the list with the standard phrase. T 720-22. The only instruction given which was not contained in the standard text was one combining robbery with pecuniary gain. T 726.

The State closed with a number of arguments which were made to the jury without objection at trial, but which are challenged in this post-conviction proceeding. See T 726-43. The defense closing focused on the co-defendant's plea and life sentence, low age (17) of "Earl Smith," his smoking pot and drinking at time of offense, the analogy of an execution to a crucifixion, and a plea for life for "Earl Smith" or "Earl Cox." T 744-62. A number of damaging inaccuracies in defense counsel's closing are also challenged in this proceeding, and will be discussed in more detail below.

B. Post-Conviction

1. Introduction

The evidentiary hearing was limited to the issue of counsel's effectiveness at the guilt and penalty phases of this capital trial.² The case for
demonstrating ineffective assistance consists of the following: the record and
transcript on direct appeal; trial counsel's testimony relating to his investigation and preparation for trial; his proffered reasons for failing to object to
inadmissible testimony and prosecutorial argument; his failure to produce
evidence and legal challenges supporting the challenge to the confession, and in
support of a case for life at penalty phase. Expert testimony on counsel's
penalty phase representation was also presented by both parties. On the guilt
phase prejudice prong, Mr. Bassett introduced the testimony of two witnesses who
had been involved in eliciting information from Mr. Bassett prior to his confession: Mr. Brown, a private investigator hired by the victim's family; and
Murray Ziegler, a Volusia County deputy sheriff. Also introduced relative to
the confession challenge was the testimony of Richard Kane, initially appointed

Prior to the evidentiary hearing, trial counsel's deposition was taken for use as substantive evidence, and was admitted at the hearing as Defense Exhibit 34. Exhibits marked during trial counsel's deposition (from trial counsel's file) were admitted as 1-33 at the evidentiary hearing.

to represent Mr. Bassett, Ms. Gardner, secretary to Judge Cobb, who permitted Mr. Kane to withdraw, and Mr. Darnell, who was one of the officers who obtained the confession. Related exhibits were also admitted.

To demonstrate prejudice at penalty phase, in addition to the record of the trial, Mr. Bassett introduced a number of records relating to his childhood, treatment at juvenile rehabilitation facilities, a psychologist, priest and social workers and family members who recounted his early life. Documents relating to co-defendant Cox's background were proffered but excluded.

The state's case consisted of the testimony of Howard Pearl, who was the defense attorney representing the co-defendant Cox, as its expert on penalty phase, and reliance on its cross-examination of witnesses and excerpts from exhibits relating to Mr. Bassett's childhood toward attempting to demonstrate a presentation of his background would not have affected the outcome of the trial.

2. The pretrial and trial conduct of counsel

Shortly after Mr. Bassett was indicted, Thomas E. Bevis was appointed to represent him on the charges. R 7. Though trial counsel never formally requested discovery, the state provided a number of reports related to the investigation which were generated both by the Volusia County Sheriff's Office and the Florida Department of Law Enforcement. Ex. 3-37, PCR 692-873. Counsel testified that early in the proceedings his "assessment of the case -- and I believe -- I'm sure it was concurred in, by Mr. Pearl, whom I discussed the case with at length -- was that if the defendants' statements went into evidence, they would almost surely be convicted" of first degree murder. PCR 914. Counsel's analysis of the likelihood of prevailing at penalty phase was the same: "I thought, all along, ... that if he were convicted and the statement went in -- the jury had knowledge of that -- they would recommend the death penalty; and I felt very strongly that the Court would go along with that recommendation." PCR 989; T 112,915-16. Counsel thought this was a death

penalty case "from <u>ab initio</u>." PCR 988. Under questioning by the trial judge at the post-conviction hearing, trial counsel said he felt a case for life would be "hopeless." PCT 203.

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