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

The evidentiary hearing only highlights the conclusion that the attorney's decision not to pursue this issue was strategically sound. In any event, the record certainly establishes that there was no prejudice suffered. Strickland,

³ The symbol "IB" will be used to denote portions of petitioner's initial brief.

104 S.Ct. at 2067. Appellant's attempt to establish Detective Brown as an <u>Henry</u> agent is totally unsuccessful. <u>See</u>, <u>Kuhlmann v. Wilson</u>, supra. In any event, there is no nexus whatsoever between the confession and any conversations between appellant and Detective Brown.

2. Alleged failure to move to suppress the confession based upon appellant's attorney's prior withdrawal.

First of all it should be noted that the attorney did actually make such a motion although it was not pre-trial but made during trial (T 435-500). The attorney explained that the purpose of making this motion during trial was to "sandbag" the state, i.e., if the motion was granted the state would be unable to appeal such a ruling because jeopardy would have attached. The order denying post-conviction relief round that the latter decision was strategic (R 1213). The trial court noted it had the discretion to deny the motion based upon procedure but ruled on the merits (T 439). The trial court ultimately found that the statements were admissible (T 500-See, Gomez v. State, 437 So.2d 206 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983), 501). holding that it was not ineffective assistance of counsel to insure that a motion to dismiss was sworn where the trial court dismissed it on the merits.

Appellant maintains that the trial court was ineffective for not asserting suppression of the confession based upon Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 476, 101 S.Ct. 1880, 68 L.Ed.2d 378 (1981). Again, the record belies such an allegation. Agent Darnell testified that initially appellant asked for his appointed attorney, Mr. Kane. Darnell responded that Kane had withdrawn

but that the police could obtain another attorney or obtain a public defender for the appellant. Appellant, in turn, replied, "Well, what do you want?" (T 441, 443-444). At the time the agents were explaining to appellant about his right to an attorney, and they actually started to leave when appellant made In addition, appellant, without the latter statement (T 445). being questioned, noted that "Snake" (the co-defendant) served in Vietnam and had killed, and that it was easy for the co-defendant to kill again (T 446). Edwards held that when a defendant invokes his right to have counsel present no further interrogation is allowed unless the accused initiates further communication. Obviously, that is what happened in the case at See, Walker v. State, 484 So.2d 1322 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986), holding no Edwards violation where the defendant re-initiated the discussion.

In any event, this court considered and found no violation of <u>Edwards</u> on direct appeal. <u>Bassett v. State</u>, 449 So.2d 803, 806 (Fla. 1984). Claims disposed of on direct appeal may not be re-raised under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel. <u>Sireci v. State</u>, 469 So.2d 119, 120 (Fla. 1985).

Furthermore, attorney Kane testified that he was appointed as a special defense attorney because of the possibility of appellant wanting to communicate with the police. He had not been charged with the homicides at that time (R 208-209). When attorney Kane was asked whether he informed his client not to talk to the police, he asserted the attorney-client privilege (R

210-211). Attorney Kane indicated that the sheriff's office and the state attorney's office had nothing to do with his withdrawal and he only withdrew because his mission had been accomplished and he was leaving on vacation (R 211, 216-218). Attorney Kane never received any immunity offers from the state attorney's Office (R 219). Appellant makes much of the fact that he did not attend the withdrawal hearing. Yet when attorney Kane was asked if he told his client of the withdrawal, the attorney asserted the privilege once again (R 218). In any event, the attorney indicated that he normally and consistently would inform his clients when he withdrew from their cases (R 222). Although it would not be significant if Kane failed to inform Bassett of the withdrawal, since Agent Darnell informed Bassett of Kane's withdrawal prior to the confession, it should be emphasized that it is appellant's burden to sustain his allegations.

Thus, the record conclusively rebuts appellant's argument that the state purposely engineered the custodial questioning to deprive Bassett of the right to counsel. Appellant cites Haliburton v. State, 514 So.2d 1088 (Fla. 1987) to support his position. The case is distinguishable because the police in Haliburton actually prohibited the attorney from seeing his client while in the case at bar Agent Darnell specifically informed appellant that his attorney had withdrawn, but he had the right to an attorney being appointed (T 441, 443-444). In

 $^{^4}$ Petitioner refused to waive the attorney-client privilege for this purpose (R 215).

any event, this attorney should not be held to the standard of a case that was decided by this court in 1987. An attorney does not have a duty to anticipate changes in the law. Cook v. State, 481 So.2d 1285 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987); Sullivan v. Wainwright, 695 F.2d 1306, 1309 (11th Cir. 1983).

3. Alleged failure to object to the co-defendant's out-of-court statement.

Appellant maintains that his attorney was ineffective because he did not object to the co-defendant's version of the crime, that is that appellant, as opposed to the co-defendant, was the dominant force in the offenses. Appellant speculates that if the attorney made an objection to this statement of the co-defendant and to the argument pertaining to this statement by the prosecutor that the jury would have returned a verdict of acquittal or of a necessary lesser-included offense (T 551-552, 545-546). Addressing the argument portion first, appellee notes that this court specifically held in Bassett, supra at 807, that the prosecutor's closing remarks in the guilt phase did not constitute fundamental error. Such а decision forecloses appellant's argument that there could be a prejudice; if the comments did not constitute fundamental error for purposes of the direct appeal a fortiari such comments would not have undermined that trial to such an extent that one could say the trial did not S.Ct. produce a Strickland, 104 just result. at 2064. Additionally, the law of the case precludes this point from being relitigated once again. Greene v. Massey, 384 So.2d 24 (Fla. 1980); Johnson v. State, 13 F.L.W. 261 (Fla. April 11, 1988). Moreover, matters settled by the appeal are not proper grounds for a collateral challenge. <u>Johnson v. Wainwright</u>, 463 So.2d 207, 213 (Fla. 1985); <u>Messer v. State</u>, 439 So.2d 875, 879 (Fla. 1985).

Turning to the testimony concerning the co-defendant's statement, appellant argues that the attorney should have either moved for a mistrial or at least moved to have the judge read a cautionary instruction (IB 49). Appellant's characterization of the co-defendant's statement can hardly be justified. The contested testimony was merely preliminary statements made by the police to the appellant prior to soliciting his confession (T 514, 544). Basically, these statements indicated that the codefendant implicated the appellant quite heavily and tried to lay most of the blame onto the appellant. In contrast to these very terse and conclusorary remarks, the court should compare the very detailed confession that appellant divulged (T 514-534). As the defense counsel noted during trial, the state mainly relied on the confession of his client because, essentially, the jury heard nothing about the crime from the co-defendant (T 624-625). essence, this is true because there is nothing to base what happened during the robbery and murders on except the detailed confession of appellant. Indeed, when this court viewed this case on direct appeal, this court relied upon and cited the details provided the appellant. Bassett, supra.

In any event, appellee submits that these statements were admissible as a predicate to the confesssion to show the appellant's state of mind. <u>United States v. Perry</u>, 649 F.2d 292, 295 (5th Cir. 1981); <u>Coxwell v. State</u>, 397 So.2d 335 (Fla. 1st

Moreover, when one considers the cursory comment alluding to the co-defendant's statement, it is readily apparent that such error would certainly have been harmless, even if the defense attorney had objected. See, Brownlee v. State, 478 So.2d 467, 470 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985), holding that an error pursuant to Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123, 88 S.Ct. 1620, 20 L.Ed.2d 476 (1968), would be harmless error where the evidence of guilt was overwhelming. Since the confessions do not contradict each other, any error in the confesion of a non-testifying co-Puiatti v. State, 521 So.2d 1106 defendant would be harmless. Obviously in this case, when one considers appellant's detailed confession and the massive evidence to corroborate it, this error would certainly be harmless. fortiari, the prejudice necessary to sustain a collateral attack under Strickland, supra, would not exist.

Appellant also maintains that this alleged error could have been cured by a cautionary instruction. Again, pursuant to a direct appeal, if one does not make a motion for a curative instruction, then the conviction will be affirmed. McCall v. State, 463 So.2d 425 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985), holding that a defendant's failure to request such an instruction following a comment about the defendant's "rap sheet" precluded consideration that such a comment was prejudicial. Appellee submits that if such an error was not deemed fundamental as was the case in McCall, then certainly this alleged error by the attorney cannot pass muster under the Strickland standard.

4. Alleged failure to give opening and closing arguments.

Appellant claims his attorney failed to take advantage of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.250 by not giving a rebuttal argument. He argues that had counsel objected, the conviction would have been reversed pursuant to a direct appeal. Although appellant argues that the denial of the right to give a rebuttal closing argument can never be harmless error pursuant to Rayson v. State, 272 So.2d 864 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973), it should be noted that there was no such denial in this case. Furthermore, Rayson, requires an objection and there was no objection in the case at (In any event defense counsel introduced evidence. bar. Appellant's cases in support of this conclusion do not stand for the proposition that such a right is a fundamental one. As such, it cannot be argued pursuant to Strickland, supra, that this alleged error so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial could not be relied on as having produced a just result. Id. at 2064.

In any event, appellant had no right to a rebuttal closing remark because his attorney introduced a defense exhibit during trial, i.e., an order noting that appellant's prior attorney, Richard Kane, had withdrawn from the case (R 61). Obviously, the rule is waived by the introduction of evidence. McAvoy v. State, 501 So.2d 642 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986). (Moreover, appellant, pursuant to this collateral appeal, has emphasized the fact that his trial counsel should have been more zealous in pursuing the motion to suppress based upon Kane's withdrawal. Therefore, such

evidence cannot be considered insignificant. (I.B. 47-48)⁵
Trial counsel made a proper strategic decision in this regard.

5. Failure to object to the prosecutor's argument that the jury could not consider appellant's confession as involuntary.

Appellant highlights excerpts from the prosecutor's closing argument indicating that the jury should consider the appellant's valid trial confession because the court had admissible. In support, appellant cites Crane v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. , 106 S.Ct. 2142, 90 L.Ed.2d 636 (1986). Of course, that case dealt with the issue of excluding the evidence altogether as opposed to focusing on single excerpts from the prosecutor's Moreover, the opinion noted that even the failure to argument. allow the defense to put on evidence to show how such confession was secured could be harmless error. In fact, the case was remanded back to the state court's to determine if the error was Palmes v. State, 397 So.2d 648, 653-656 (Fla. 1981), reached the same conclusion by noting that even though evidence regarding the voluntariness of a confession was excluded, the error was harmless based upon other evidence admitted and the overwhelming evidence of guilt.

Any alleged error here certainly would not have any conceivable affect on the outcome of the proceedings. Strickland, 104 S.Ct. at 2064. First of all, the defense counsel specifically argued during closing argument that the jury should consider the specific features of the confession including the

^{5 &}quot;(I.B.)" denotes portions of appellant's initial brief.

statements he was confronted with by the police and other factors (R 635-636). Additionally, the trial court instructed the jury that they were the sole judges of the weight and the sufficiency of the evidence and the credibility of the witnesses (T 669). Just before the final arguments, the trial court informed the jury that such arguments could not be used by the jury as evidence or as instructions (T 585). More importantly, the jury was informed:

A voluntary admission is one that is not improperly compelled or induced by promises or threats and must not result from either physical or psychological coercion directed against the Defendant.

Any admission that you find that was not freely and voluntarily made by the person charged should be wholly disregarded.

A statement voluntarily made given fair should be unprejudiced consideration, with due regard to the time and circumstances under which it was made and its harmony or inconsistency with other evidence, as well as the motive the evidence to shown by influenced the making of the statement.

You may believe any part of such statement which you believe to be true and reject those parts which you find to be untrue.

(T 672-673).

When one considers defense counsel's closing remarks, the actual jury instructions, and the overwhelming evidence of guilt, it is readily apparent that this complaint is trivial at best. The harmless error standard pursuant to a direct appeal must be borne by the state. State v. Diguilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). In

collateral proceedings, however, it is appellant's burden to show that any error had a substantial effect on the trial. Obviously appellant has not met that burden.

Finally, it should be noted this court already reviewed the impropriety of any remarks made during closing argument at the guilt phase and found either no error or the error harmless pursuant to the direct appeal. Bassett, supra. Once again, the law of the case precludes this issue from being relitigated. Greene; Johnson [v. State]; Johnson [v. Wainwright]; Messer, supra.

B. PENALTY PHASE:

1. ALLEGED NON-STATUTORY AGGRAVATING EVIDENCE.

(a). Law of the case.

Appellant maintains his trial counsel should have precluded the evidence submitted by two witnesses at the penalty phase: Connie Christy and Officer Wilkinson. Appellant maintains that the only purpose of this testimony was to elicit a non-statutory aggravating circumstance, i.e., that appellant has a prior criminal history. First of all, the jury was instructed to limit their consideration to ony statutory aggravating factors (T 762). Furthermore, it is presemed that the trial court followed the law in regard to such penalty phase instructions. Thomas v. Wainwright, 495 So.2d 172, 174 (Fla. 1986).

This issue has been reviewed and decided pursuant to the direct appeal, it is the law of the case and may not be challenged a second time pursuant to a collateral proceeding. Greene, Johnson, supra. This court reviewed the aggravating circumstances; indeed this court explicitly noted it reviewed the entire record on appeal and found no error regarding the sentence. Bassett, supra at 808, 809. In McCrae v. State, 510 So.2d 874, 879 (Fla. 1987), this court held that whether certain evidence was considered non-statutory aggravating evidence was an issue for direct appeal and would not be cognizable pursuant to a post-conviction motion. The doctrine of law of the case precludes this issue from being reviewed once again.

(b). The evidence was admissible to establish the statutory mitigating factor of no significant prior criminal history.

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